STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Beaufort County

Honorable Michael G. Nettles, Circuit Court Judge

**ORIGINAL**

**RECEIVED**

JUN 22 2017

**SC Court of Appeals**

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

JASMINE NICOLE FEMIA,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2016-001771

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

LANELLE CANTEY DURANT  
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense  
Division of Appellate Defense  
PO Box 11589  
Columbia, SC 29211-1589  
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

**

**STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL**

Did the trial court err in refusing to give the jury charge requested by defense counsel that “mere association with people who have committed a crime is insufficient to prove the defendant committed the crime” which was prejudicial to Appellant Femia because the state’s case focused on Appellant’s association with Anthony Ellison who admitted killing the deceased who was the father of Appellant Femia’s child?

### **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

On April 30, 2015, the Beaufort County Grand jury indicted Appellant Jasmine Femia on the charges of murder and conspiracy to commit murder. On August 22-24, 2016, Appellant Femia proceeded to trial before the Honorable Michael G. Nettles and a jury. Appellant was represented by James Bannon, and the state was represented by Hunter Swanson and Ann Fitz. Tr. 1-2. The jury found Appellant Femia guilty on both charges as indicted. Tr. 302, ll. 6 – Tr. 303, ll. 3. The judge sentenced Femia to forty-five years on the murder charge and five years on the conspiracy to run concurrent. Tr. 312, ll. 3 – 12. Appellant's attorney filed a notice of appeal. This appeal follows.

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

Jasmine Femia and Nick Degros had a child together around 2012. Family Court records indicated that Appellant Femia had custody and Degros paid child support and had visitation rights. Tr. 170, ll. 17 – 25; Tr. 172, ll. 11 – Tr. 173, ll. 17. On December 9, 2014, a Rule to Show Cause was filed by Degros for a violation of visitation, and the hearing was set for January 14, 2015. Tr. 171, ll. 1 – 23.

Anthony Ellison moved to South Carolina from New York City following a divorce. He “got in with some wrong people” and was convicted of armed robbery and served eight and one half years in prison. While in prison he met Daniel Lopez who was the uncle of Jasmine Femia. Tr. 143, ll. 16 -25; Tr. 145, ll. 4 – 25.

Upon his release from prison, Ellison had no where to live. Lopez invited him to come live with him in Beaufort which Ellison did. He met Femia when she went to visit her uncle, Lopez. Tr. 146, ll. 1 – 25. Femia and Ellison developed an intimate relationship, and put money down on a ring because they planned to be married according to Ellison. Ellison moved in with Femia where he lived for a couple of months until the incident. Tr. 147, ll. 1 – 14.

During this time with Ellison, Femia continued her three year romantic relationship with Anastasia (Ana) Harley. Tr. 127, ll. 18 – Tr. 128, ll. 25. Ana and Ellison did not know about each other. One day, Ana and Femia were at the nail salon when Ellison showed up. Ana saw Femia hand him something and Ellison gave Femia a kiss. When Ana asked Femia why she was with Ellison, according to Ana, Femia told her that Ellison was in her life so he could get rid of Nick Degros. Tr. 132, ll.10 – Tr. 133, ll. 25.

Ellison testified at trial that Femia told him about the family court hearing and that she would probably lose her children. She told him that she would go to jail and he would have no

where to live. According to Ellison, Femia told him that she wanted Nick Degros dead. Then they would be married and move to Tennessee. Tr. 148, ll. 1 – Tr. 149, ll. 3.

On January 9, 2015, Amanda Allen was living with her fiancée, Nick Degros and her three children. They had just returned from dinner when Nick received a call. He went outside. A few minutes later Amanda heard four gunshots. Tr. 103, ll. 1 – Tr. 106, ll. 10. She tried to call and text Degros but no answer. She went outside and found Degros lying face down close to the brick wall where the mailboxes were. He was not moving. She tried to resuscitate him but could not. She screamed for help and police officers who were down the street came. Tr. 106, ll. 11 - Tr. 108, ll. 24.

Officer Kathleen Wilson responded to Amanda's call. The officer found Degros in a pool of blood with no pulse. When she withdrew her hand after checking for a pulse, it was covered with blood and gray matter. Tr. 112, ll. 3 – 20; Tr. 114, ll. 4 – Tr. 115, ll. 2; Tr. 116, ll. 2 – Tr. 117, ll. 1.

The paramedic who responded, Shayna Orsen, arrived at 8:19 pm. She found the person and pronounced him dead. There was an entry wound to the right side of the head with coagulated blood around the body and brain matter visible. Tr. 123, ll. 11 – Tr. 126, ll. 14. The autopsy indicated that the cause of death were gunshot wounds to the head. The manner of death was homicide. Tr. 228, ll. 3 – 8. The forensic pathologist, Dr. Lee Tormos, reported that there were three gunshot wounds to the head two of which were fatal. One was a wound to the nose. Tr. 223, ll. 1 – 5; Tr. 225, ll. 10 – Tr. 226, ll. 24. The wounds were consistent with a .22 caliber revolver. Tr. 227, ll. 25.

Ana Harley testified that when she heard of Nick Degros' death, she called the police and talked to Investigator Charles Raley. She told him what Femia had said to her about wanting to

get rid of Degros. She also told him that Ellison and Femia had asked Ana about getting a gun which she did not do. She also heard Femia tell Ellison she would find a car. Tr. 130, ll. 2 – Tr. 135, ll. 22.

Anthony Ellison was charged with the murder of Nick Degros. Tr. 143, ll. 16 – Tr. 144, ll. 2. The first time he talked to the police, he told them that he committed the crime and that Femia had nothing to do with it. He testified at trial that he was protecting her because he loved her. Tr. 154, ll. 9 – 23.

He talked to the police investigators again later and told them that it was the MS 13 gang that killed Degros. Again he said at trial that he was trying to keep Femia out of jail because he thought she loved him. Tr. 154, ll. 24 – Tr. 155, ll. 14.

On July 22, 2016, the state offered Ellison a plea deal that he accepted to plead guilty to murder and conspiracy for a negotiated cap between thirty to forty years. In exchange he agreed to testify against Appellant Femia which he did. Without this plea deal, he was looking at a life without parole sentence. Tr. 165, ll. 15 – Tr. 166, ll. 19; Tr. 144, ll. 3 – Tr. 145, ll. 3.

At trial as a state's witness, Ellison testified that Femia wanted Nick Degros dead. The plan was after Degros was dead, Femia and Ellison would get married and move to Tennessee. She would pay off his probation so he would be finished with that. Tr. 148, ll. 1 19.

Femia paid for the .22 revolver gun that Ellison got from someone they met behind her apartment building. Femia then put her car in the shop because she told Ellison that it needed work. She paid for a rental car which Ellison drove to Degros' house the night of the incident after Femia had allegedly given him directions. Tr. 149, ll. 4 – Tr. 151, ll. 2. He waited for Degros and his family to get home. When they did, Ellison called Degros to get him outside. Ellison then shot Degros three times to be sure he was dead. He returned to Femia's apartment

and they immediately went to Walmart as Femia had planned so they could be seen on the store cameras as an alibi. Tr. 151, ll. 3 – Tr. 154, ll. 8.

Eric Kyle, manager of the area Enterprise Rent A Car, identified the rental contract signed by Jasmine Femia for January 9, 2015 for a Hyundai Elantra. It was admitted into evidence with no objection by defense. Tr. 192, ll. 14 – Tr. 195, ll. 20.

Richard Stantsy owned the Tuffy Auto Service in Beaufort. He confirmed that Appellant Femia brought her car, a 2007 Toyota Camry, to his shop for service. The invoice showed the service was completed on January 10, 2015 at 9:30 in the morning. Tr. 219, ll. 1 – Tr. 221, ll. 25.

James Tallon, a crime scene agent with SLED, processed the rental car on January 13, 2015, which had previously been rented by Femia. The car was returned to Enterprise on January 10, 2015. Tr. 196, ll. 1 – Tr. 197, ll. 25; Tr. 57, ll. 1 – 11. Agent Tallon used the Bluestar test which was presumptive for blood on the driver's floorboard. He admitted the substance could be something other than blood as the test was only presumptive. He took cuttings from the floor carpet. Tr.199, ll. 1 – 25; Tr. 202, ll. 10 – 25.

Verona Herrera, the forensics serologist with SLED, confirmed that the substance from the driver's floorboard carpet cuttings was blood. The blood stained carpet cuttings were admitted into evidence with no objection by defense counsel. Tr. 205, ll. 1 – Tr. 207, ll. 24.

In pretrial motions, defense counsel moved to suppress the evidence and search of the rental car, a Hyundai Elantra that was seized based on insufficient probable cause. The judge ruled that there was sufficient probable cause and that Appellant Femia did not have "standing" nor a reasonable expectation of privacy in a rental car which she was no longer renting. Tr. 56, ll. 2 – 58, ll. 18.

Defense counsel then moved to suppress the blood evidence taken from the rental car because the blood evidence was found to be of no value for comparison, and it was more prejudicial than probative. Counsel argued that the rental car had been rented to another party before it was searched. The judge denied the motion and said the issue could be examined on cross examination.<sup>1</sup> Tr.58, ll. 18 – Tr. 60, ll. 17.

The judge held a “charge conference” before closing arguments. Tr. 234, ll. 1 – Tr. 235, ll. 11. When the judge asked if there were any additional requests, defense counsel asked if the judge would consider “charging mere presence, and that association is not guilty.” The judge said he did not think that applied because no one was alleging that Femia was present when it took place. The state agreed it was not appropriate to charge. Tr. 235, ll. 12 – 25.

Defense counsel explained that he was referring to the second part of the mere presence charge which was relevant to the facts of this case and that said:

The mere association by a defendant with people who have committed a crime is insufficient to prove the defendant committed the crime.

Tr. 236, ll 1 – 9.

The judge responded that his charge on the hand of one is the hand of all “goes into that in great detail.” He explained that “it takes more than just being around someone; it takes a meeting of the minds.” The judge told counsel that he could make additional requests if he thought that the hand of one is the hand of all charge was not “adequate to cover that particular point.” Tr. 236, ll. 10 – 19.

The judge’s “hand of one is the hand of all” charge with the pertinent parts was:

---

<sup>1</sup> Defense counsel did not object when the blood samples as carpet cuttings were admitted into evidence. Tr. 206, ll. 9 – Tr. 207, ll. 7.

If a crime is committed by two or more people who are acting together in committing a crime, the act of one is the act of all. A person who joins with another to commit an unlawful act that's criminal is responsible for everything done by the other person, which happens as a probable or natural consequence of the acts done in carrying out the common plan and purpose.

For example, two people can be guilty of killing another person when only one of the two had a gun. There was only one bullet and the only one ---and the only one of the two fired the shot that caused the death. If two or more people are together, acting together, assisting each other in committing the attempt, the act of one is the act of all, or as is said, the hand of one is the hand of all.

Prior knowledge that a crime is going to be committed without more is not sufficient to make a person guilty of that crime. Mere knowledge that another person is going to commit a crime, even if the defendant is present when the crime is committed is not sufficient to convict a defendant as a principal. Guilt as a principal is shown by actual or constructive presence at the scene as a result of prior arrangement. Therefore, a finding of a prior arranged plan or common scheme is necessary for a finding of guilt as a principal.

Guilt as a principal is shown by actual or constructive presence at the scene as a result of prior arrangement. Therefore, a finding of a prior arranged plan or common scheme is necessary for a finding of guilt as a principal. The state must prove beyond a reasonable doubt by competent evidence that the theory of the hand of one is the hand of all.

A principal in a crime is one who either actually commits the crime or who is present, aiding and abetting or assisting in committing the crime. When a person does an act in the presence of and with the assistance of another, the act is done by both.

Where two or more acting with a common plan or intent are present at the commission of a crime, it does not matter who actually commits the crime. All are guilty. The hand of one is the hand of all. Present at the commission of the crime means to be sufficiently near to aid and abet and assist in the commission of the crime. However, mere presence at the scene of a crime is not sufficient to convict one as a principal on the theory of aiding and abetting.

Tr. 279, ll. 20 – Tr. 281, ll. 18.

The judge later charged in his conspiracy charge:

The defendant is charged with conspiracy. The state must prove beyond a reasonable doubt that the defendant combined with one or more persons for the purpose of committing an unlawful act or permitting a lawful act by unlawful means. There must be a mutual understanding, agreement, a common intent and plan. Mere passive knowledge of or consent to the criminal conduct of another is not enough to make a persona conspirator. There must be guilty knowledge and participation. Similarly, the mere fact that the defendant may have associated with another person or met with another person to **discuss common aims and interests [emphasis added]** does not necessarily establish proof of existence of a conspiracy, or that the defendant was involved in the conspiracy.<sup>2</sup>

Tr. 284, ll. 9 – 25.

At the close of the charge, defense counsel renewed his request for the mere association language from the “accomplice liability “charge be added. Counsel said that he understood that the court “declined to do so the first time, but he just wanted to preserve the record.” Tr. 290, ll. 25 – Tr. 291, ll. 4.

The judge responded that he specifically charged that when he charged that mere presence at the scene of a crime was not sufficient to convict one as a principal in the theory of aiding and abetting. He said to counsel: “It’s mere presence. That’s kind of what you wanted, wasn’t it?” Tr. 291, ll. 5 – 10.

Defense counsel responded:

It specifically said mere association by a defendant with people who have committed a crime is insufficient proof that defendant has committed a crime, is sort of the specific language that I think should be ---I mean much was made about the association both between my client and Mr. Ellison before the crime was committed, as well as after the crime was committed. And so I

---

<sup>2</sup> The judge’s conspiracy charge continued. Tr. 285, ll. 1 – 18.

think the jury should be instructed that the mere association between the two is not enough.

Tr. 290, ll. 24 – Tr. 291, ll. 20.

The judge repeated his charge that prior knowledge without more was insufficient to make a person guilty. The judge said he thought that covered it, but he told counsel that he might be correct. The judge told counsel that he was protected on the record. Tr. 291, ll. 21 – Tr. 292, ll. 6.

After the jury had begun deliberations, there was a question. The jurors requested “clarification on the South Carolina law on murder and conspiracy to commit murder with specific reference to the hand of one is the hand of all and the weight of circumstantial evidence.” Tr. 293, ll. 22 – Tr. 294, ll. 1. The judge said that question covered about all of the charge so he would just recharge them the law “with regard to each of these.” Tr. 294, ll. 2 – 5.

The judge then recharged the jury on the law. Tr. 294, ll. 6 – Tr. 300, ll. 25. Following the recharge, defense counsel said he would like to “reiterate my previous request to give the other language.” The judge said it had been covered. Tr. 301, ll. 1 – 11. The jury delivered its verdict of guilty on both murder and conspiracy. Tr. 302, ll. 14 – Tr. 303, ll. 3.

At the close of the trial, defense counsel raised all of his pretrial motions as well as objections including his motion for a directed verdict. He argued to the judge that he believed that some of the judge’s rulings “were narrow” and he asked for a new trial. The judge denied the motion but told counsel he was “protected on the record.” Tr. 312, ll. 18 – Tr. 313, ll. 11.

The judge sentenced Femia to forty-five years on the murder charge and five years on the conspiracy charge to run concurrent. Tr. 312, ll. 3-12.

## ARGUMENT

The trial court erred in refusing to give the jury charge requested by defense counsel that “mere association with people who have committed a crime is insufficient to prove the defendant committed the crime” which was prejudicial to Appellant Femia because the state’s case focused on Appellant’s association with Anthony Ellison who admitted killing the deceased who was the father of Appellant Femia’s child.

The trial judge believed that his jury charge on conspiracy and hand of one is the hand of all and mere presence covered the mere association jury charge requested by defense counsel. However, these charges given by the trial judge continued to contain the language: “association with another person to **discuss common aims and interests.**” [Emphasis added]. This was error.

The law to be charged must be determined from the evidence presented at trial. State v. Marin, 415 S.C. 475, 783 S.E.2d 808 (2016). In reviewing jury charges for error, the appellate court must consider the court’s jury charge as a whole in light of the evidence and issues presented at trial. Id. An appellate court will not reverse the trial judge’s decision regarding a jury charge absent an abuse of discretion. *Supra.*

An abuse of discretion occurs when the circuit court’s ruling is based on an error of law. State v. Brandenburg, Jr., 419 S.C. 346, 797 S.E.2d 416 (Ct. App. 2017). To warrant reversal, a circuit court’s refusal to give a requested jury charge must be both erroneous and prejudicial to the defendant. Id.

In State v. Mattison, 388 S.C. 469, 697 S.E.2d 578 (2010), Mattison was convicted of murder, assault and battery with intent to kill, and possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime. The Supreme Court held that a defendant who has not actually

committed the homicidal act must have aided, abetted, assisted, encouraged, or advised the killing and acted with the intention of encouraging and abetting the commission of the homicide in order to be regarded as a participant in a homicide.

Mattison and a co-defendant, Ervin, were accused of luring three men—Jose and Roberto Garcia and Jorge Lemus-Patricio—to the home of Ervin’s grandfather on the promise of buying their car. Instead, Ervin and Mattison killed Jorge and Roberto and wounded Jose.

Ervin admitted to shooting one of the victims but said his gun discharged when the men struggled over the weapon. He further stated that when his gun discharged, Mattison fired his weapon. Mattison was convicted of killing Jorge but had a mistrial on the murder of Roberto.

Defense counsel had asked the trial judge to charge the jury on “mere knowledge,” “mere association,” and “mere presence.” The trial judge said he would but “not exactly” as counsel requested. The judge then did not give the requested charges. The Court of Appeals affirmed Mattison’s conviction by holding that the charges that mere knowledge that a crime was going to occur, or mere association with one who commits a crime were “implicit” in the charge given by the trial judge.

In Mattison, the Supreme Court discussed the cases of In State v. Kelsey, 331 S.C. 50, 502 S.E.2d 63 (1998), and State v. Austin, 299 S.C. 456, 385 S.E.2d 830 (1989).

In Kelsey, a murder case of a teenage girl by three teenage boys, Kelsey argued on appeal that the trial judge failed to give the “mere association” charge and that the judge’s instructions on “mere presence” and conspiracy were improper. The Supreme Court found that although the judge failed to give a “mere association” charge, the instructions on mere presence and accomplice liability were proper as a whole, and that mere presence was not enough to sustain a conviction.

In Austin, the Supreme Court found that the judge's "mere presence" charge made it clear that to find a person guilty, the person must personally commit the crime or through a common design, aid, abet or assist the crime through some overt act. The judge did not give the charge request by Austin on mere presence.

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