**STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals**

Appeal from Beaufort County
The Honorable Michael G. Nettles, Circuit Court Judge

RECEIVED
DEC 14 2017
SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

v.

JASMINE NICOLE FEMIA,

APPELLANT.

Appellate Case No. 2016-001771

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

W. JEFFREY YOUNG
Chief Deputy Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

MELODY J. BROWN
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

W. JOSEPH MAYE
Assistant Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 100851
P.O. Box 11549
Columbia, South Carolina 29211
(803) 734-3131

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

**STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

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

While the law of South Carolina instructs that a charge should be considered as a whole, and not by its isolated parts, it would be precipitant to not take notice that a “mere association” type charge was *explicitly* incorporated by Judge Nettles in his instructions to the jury. The charge and the re-charge from the trial court state the following:

(Initial jury charge)

Similarly, the mere fact that Defendant may have associated with another person or met with another person to discuss common aims and interests does not necessarily establish proof of existence of a conspiracy, or that the Defendant was involved in the conspiracy.

(R. p. 184, lines 20-25).

(Recharge to the jury following the jury’s note to the court)

Similarly, the mere fact the Defendant may have associated with another person or met with another person and discussed common aims and interests does not necessarily establish proof of existence of a conspiracy, or that the Defendant was involved in a conspiracy.

(R. p. 199, line 25 - pp. 200, line 5).

Both the charge and recharge by the trial court used the terminology “the mere fact that the Defendant may have associated with another person” when informing the jury that such would not be sufficient for finding guilt of conspiracy.² (R. p. 199, line 25 - p. 200, line 5). There is no substantive difference between the court’s verbiage and counsel’s requested verbiage. This is an explicit “mere association” charge given to the jury; the fact it is not the exact verbiage requested by defense counsel is legally insufficient to constitute error. *State v. Adkins*, 353 S.C. 312, 318-19, 577 S.E.2d 460, 464 (Ct.App.2003).

² Appellant *consistently* misquotes the trial court as having said “Defendant’s mere association with another person to discuss common aims and interests”. The distinction is small, but it is worth noting that the trial court’s *exact* phrasing provides an explicit “mere association” charge to the jury, without qualification or condition.

Appellant also argues that the trial court's recitation of "mere association" within the context of the charge of conspiracy renders the charge in error for failing to also apply it to the charge of murder. This is inaccurate.

The following excerpts from the trial court's jury charge directly convey this necessity:

If a crime is committed by two or more people who are *acting together in committing a crime*, the act of one is the act of all.

A person *who joins with another to commit an unlawful act* that's criminal is responsible for everything done by the other person, which happens as a probable or natural consequence *of the acts done in carrying out the common plan and purpose*.

* * *

A principal in a crime is one who either *actually commits the crime or who is present, aiding and abetting or assisting* in committing the crime.

* * *

When a person does an act in the presence of *and with the assistance with another*, the act is done by both.

* * *

Present at the commission of the crime means to be sufficiently near *to aid and abet and assist* in the commission of the crime.

* * *

The crime must have been committed pursuant thereto, with the person aiding and abetting *by some overt act*.

* * *

Intent may be shown by acts and conduct of the Defendant in other circumstances from which you may naturally and reasonably infer intent. The State must prove these elements beyond a reasonable doubt.

(R. p. 179, line 20 - p. 182, line 4) (emphasis added).

These instructions as to the charge of hand of one is the hand of all are mutually exclusive to "mere association"; which is to say that, in light of this instruction, a jury could not possibly find "mere association" with a person who commits a crime as sufficient to find the associate also guilty of the crime. The charge by the court thoroughly informs the jury that participation is required to find a party guilty under the hand of one is the hand of all theory. To assert that a "mere association" charge is needed in isolation of the conspiracy charge, so that the jury can

know to apply it to Appellant's murder charge, would require the jury to ignore the entire charge of murder by hand of one is the hand of all. While the *exact phrase* requested by defense counsel was not utilized, Judge Nettles gave explicit instruction that mere association would be insufficient to convict for conspiracy, and did not need to expound on mere association for the charge of murder, given the detail of his instructions to that charge. See *State v. Kelsey*, 331 S.C. 50, 76-77, 502 S.E.2d 63, 76-77 (1998).

There is therefore no error in Judge Nettles' jury instruction, and the conviction of Appellant should be affirmed.

b. The trial court substantively encompassed "mere association" within his other charges given to the jury.

Even if the absence of the express mere association language utilized by the trial court, the substance of the trial court's jury charge, *as a whole*, easily establishes for the jury the proper parameters that trial counsel requested in his seeking a "mere association" instruction. No further instruction was needed, and the court did not err in refusing to instruct the precise charge requested by defense counsel.

South Carolina already has controlling authority on this matter. See *State v. Kelsey*, 331 S.C. 50, 76-77, 502 S.E.2d 63, 76-77 (1998). In *Kelsey*, the trial court was requested to charge "mere association" but declined to do so. The Supreme Court of South Carolina affirmed the trial court's decision, noting that the charge as a whole was sufficient to cover the requested charge, as it was not misleading, provided clear explanation that all elements for each crime must be met to convict, discussed the requisite criminal intent, and noted the need for the defendant to be a *knowing party* to the conspiracy. *State v. Kelsey*, 331 S.C. 50, 76-77, 502 S.E.2d 63, 76-77 (1998). All of these instructions can be found in the charge given by Judge Nettles. Our Court ruled similarly in two other cases. *State v. Austin*, 299 S.C. 456, 385 S.E.2d 830 (1989) (holding

that trial court's refusal to charge mere presence was not in error when charge given made clear that guilt may only be found when defendant commits the crime, or is present at the scene and intentionally, or through common design, aids, abets, or assists in the commission of the crime through an overt act); *State v. Mattison*, 388 S.C. 469, 697 S.E.2d 578 (2010) (Relying upon *Kelsey* and *Austin* and finding that when read as a whole, the trial court's jury charge encompassed a charge for "mere association", thereby rendering an explicit charge for mere association unnecessary and within the trial court's discretion to deny).

Appellant relies on *State v. Mattison*, and attempts to distinguish the case by the fact that, unlike *Mattison*, Appellant was not present at the murder. Appellant suggests that this fact made a "mere association" charge (disregarding the "mere association" charge Judge Nettles actually provided) absolutely necessary. In conjunction, Appellant argues that the charge should have been given independent of any "to discuss common aims" language, so that the jury would know to apply it to the murder charge as well. However, Appellant disregards the main crux of the *Mattison* decision that demonstrates, like *Kelsey* and *Austin*, that thorough instruction on requisite intent and overt acts negates the need for a "mere association" charge for either murder or conspiracy. *Mattison*, at S.C. 480-82, at S.E.2d 584-85.

At the renewal of defense counsel's request for mere association instruction, Judge Nettles specifically references his mere presence and mere knowledge charges as covering the request of defense counsel for mere association. (R. p. 190, line 24 - p. 192, line 4). Judge Nettles relied upon this position in denying defense counsel's renewed request for the charge. *Id.* The substance of the jury charge on intent, overt acts, and hand of one is hand of all, along with the mere presence and mere knowledge charges, substantively encompass the charge of mere association. See *Kelsey*, at S.C. 76-77, at S.E.2d 76-77. The jury charge, when read as a whole,

fully and accurately conveys the law and the trial court was within its discretion to deny further instruction. No error arises.

There must also be a showing of prejudice in order to find reversible error for omission of a jury charge. *State v. Patterson*, 367 S.C. 219, 232, 625 S.E.2d 239, 245 (Ct.App.2006). “Failure to give requested jury instructions is not prejudicial error where the instructions given afford the proper test for determining the issues.” *State v. Burkhardt*, 350 S.C. 252, 263, 565 S.E.2d 298, 304 (2002) (citing *Orders Distributing Co., Inc. v. Newsome Carpets & Wallcovering*, 308 S.C. 429, 418 S.E.2d 550 (1992)).

Appellant makes no allegation that the instructions given were an inaccurate charge of the law, only that the omission of the *specific* “mere association” charge was in error. Given that the trial court utilized its own language to address “mere association”, and did so accurately, there is no actual omission to consider. But if *in arguendo*, the alleged omission is taken as true, the instructions to the jury still cannot be deemed prejudicial in this matter. Given the evidence against Appellant which paints a clear picture of her orchestration of Degros’ murder, “mere association” with Ellison would not be a reasonable conclusion for the jury. (Infra). Furthermore, the instruction given provided the jury with an even more stringent explanation of insufficient proof of guilt. Mere association can result simply by being familiar or commonly around a certain person, without any knowledge of what that person may be doing. Judge Nettle’s charge demonstrates that even if a defendant is commonly around someone and also *knows* that that person intends to break the law, it is *still* insufficient for proving guilt. This is a standard that goes well beyond association, and therefore no prejudice can result from Appellant’s claim, even if presumed true.

The law was properly charged, and while the exact verbiage requested was not used, the

jury was well educated on the fact that mere association cannot be sufficient to prove guilt. No prejudice arises in this matter and the Appellant's conviction should be affirmed.

Harmless Error

In alternative to the arguments above, if error is found to arise from the trial court's omission of defense counsel's "mere association" charge, such would constitute harmless error given the evidence presented at trial.

Harmless error analysis is applicable in the context of alleged omitted jury charges. The Supreme Court notes that it must determine beyond reasonable doubt that the complained of error did not contribute to the verdict; the analysis is not what the verdict would have been had the jury been given the correct charge, but whether the erroneous charge contributed to the verdict rendered. *State v. Middleton*, 407 S.C. 312, 317, 755 S.E.2d 432, 435 (2014) (citing *State v. Kerr*, 330 S.C. 132, 144-45, 498 S.E.2d 212, 218 (Ct.App.1998)). It is a fact-intensive inquiry wherein the court must consider the facts the jury heard and weigh those facts against the erroneous jury charge to determine what effect, if any, it had on the verdict. *Id.* (citing *State v. Jefferies*, 316 S.C. 13, 22, 446 S.E.2d 427, 432 (1994)).

In *State v. Jefferies*, the court approached the issue of harmless error with the same analysis, but first determined what portion of the jury instruction ultimately confused the jury. *State v. Jefferies*, 316 S.C. 13, 22, 446 S.E.2d 427, 432 (1994). The Court concluded that given the facts, the impermissible jury charge did not contribute to the guilty verdict. *Id.* at 23. In the case at hand, the jury sent a note to the court requesting clarification "on the South Carolina law on murder and conspiracy to commit murder with specific reference to the hand of one is the hand of all and the weight of circumstantial evidence." (R. p. 193, line 22 - p. 194, line 1). Appellant suggests that the note requesting clarification is an indication that the jury was

confused by the lack of “mere association” charge for murder and that the jury had doubts as to Appellant’s involvement. Contrastingly, it is more likely that the jury understood that considerable circumstantial evidence existed against Appellant, and need to be sure it could base its verdict on such evidence. It is of particular importance to note that the jury delivered its verdict just fifteen minutes after gaining clarification as to the requested instructions.³ This would indicate that the jury likely had their verdict determined beforehand, but wished to confirm their understanding of the law before delivering the verdict to the court. It’s also equally reasonable to assume that given the gravity of the situation, the jury wished to reassure itself of its instruction, given the length and complexity that accompanies the law and evidence in a case such as this.

Any conclusion as to jury confusion is inherently speculative, but it is still provable that Appellant’s alleged error in jury charge did not influence the verdict of the jury. In the case at hand, the jury heard extensive evidence of Appellant’s involvement in planning, assisting, and covering up the murder of Degros. Specifically, the jury heard evidence that:

- Appellate explicitly instructed Ellison to murder Degros; (R. p. 98, lines 5-11).
- Appellant gave Ellison a motivation to murder Degros by telling him he’d be without a home if the Rule to Show Cause proceeded; (R. p. 94 line 22 - p. 95, line 3).
- Appellant provided Dégros’s phone number to Ellison for purposes of accomplishing the murder; (R. p. 98, lines 3-8).
- Appellant drove Ellison to Degros’s home in order to show him how to get there; (R. p. 94, lines 5-10).
- Appellant provided directions over the phone to Ellison when he got lost attempting to drive himself to Degros’s home the night of the murder; (R. p. 97, lines 12-22).
- Appellant rented the Hyundai used for transportation to and from the murder; (R. p. 96, lines 13-23).

³ The jury exited at 11:57am with deliberations beginning shortly after. They re-entered at 2:20pm for Judge Nettles’ recharge of the law, and exited at 2:28. The Jury returned with a verdict at 2:43 pm. (R. p. 188, lines 5-17; p. 194, lines 3-10; p. 201, line 1-2; pp. 202, lines 4-8).

- Both Appellant and Ellison approached Harley to inquire about obtaining a gun; (R. p. 80, lines 10-24).
- Appellant helped arrange to purchase the gun used in the murder, and paid for it; (R. p. 95, lines 6-12).
- Appellant expressed her motives and desires for the murder to both Ellison and Harley; (R. p. 94, line 22 - p. 95, line 3) and (R. p. 79, lines 17-22).
- Appellant discussed the need for an alibi with Ellison and Harley; (R. p. 98, lines 14-18) and (R. p. 88, lines 1-2).
- Appellant devised a plan to be seen by surveillance camera footage for alibi purposes; (R. p. 98, lines 14-18).
- Appellant participated in the disposal of the murder weapon and cellphones; (R. p. 95, lines 13-22) and (R. p. 98, line 23 - p. 99, line 4).
- The forensic evidence showed that the Hyundai used in the murder had spots that tested positive as presumptive for blood. (R. p. 126, line 9 - p. 127, line 12).

With this evidence in mind, the court must determine whether the omission of the precise requested jury charge for mere association contributed to the jury reaching its guilty verdict for murder and conspiracy to commit murder. *Jefferies*, 316 S.C. at 22-23, 446 S.E.2d at 432-33. As Appellant's trial strategy was a ubiquitous effort to challenge the credibility of the State's evidence, as opposed to offering its own case in chief, the issue is simplified into a question of elements and credibility.

The jury found Appellant guilty beyond a reasonable doubt; they could only have done so if they believed the testimony and evidence presented to be sufficiently credible and sufficient to meet the elements of the charges. The lack of the precise mere association charge would not influence whether the jury found the evidence credible or not, nor would it effect the jury's satisfaction that elements of overt acts, intent, and participation in a common plan (among others) were met by the evidence, as charged. These elements, in and of themselves, are contrary to "mere association". Thus, the lack of the specific requested charge would have had no influence upon the verdict reached by the jury in this matter, and any error is rendered harmless. The conviction should be affirmed.

CONCLUSION

For all of the foregoing reasons, it is respectfully submitted that the judgments, convictions, and sentences of the trial court should be affirmed.